George Vassiadis notes on Saraguay houses

(Main sources: Montreal and Ottawa Blue Book 1930; Social Register of Canada 1958, 1959, 1961; Lovell’s Montreal Directory 1962 onwards; Analyse de la valeur patrimoniale de la maison Mary Dorothy Molson; Ville de Montréal grand repertoire; Rôle d’évaluation; Alexander Reford, Les jardins oubliés; internet, etc)

Details in bold supplied by Sylvia Oljemark 22 May 2009

	Address
	Description

	12280 Avenue du Beau Bois (2009)

9000 Boulevard Gouin Ouest (ca. 1958-ante ca. 2000)

6000 Gouin Boulevard (1957)

3100 Gouin Boulevard (1930)


	This house used to be set in large grounds facing Gouin; Charles Howard Gordon, d. 1972, m. 1929, Margaret Black, d. 2001; they lived here from at least 1930; C. H. Gordon still listed in 1999; 2008 Role says built 1930, owner Remo Construction Inc, residual grounds 1747m2

SO (May 2009): house and estate called Joli Bois; Mrs Gordon lived here until she died; she always said estate would remain intact as long as she lived; it did, but grounds had been transferred by her family to a developer even before her death; original house now swamped by sea of McMansions

	9040 Boulevard Gouin Ouest
	F. David Mathias listed 1962 onwards; fieldstone with mansard roof; built 1948, Nancy Keefer owner, grounds 11,243m2, cf. Role; Frederick David Mathias, architect, d. 1997, m. Nancy Keefer
SO (May 2009): SO exchanged Xmas cards with Mrs Mathias until about two years ago; she thinks she is still living; in woods behind house there are traces of Hugh Paton's private gated road to town (see notes for Paton Island)

	9045 Boulevard Gouin Ouest
	House built ca. 1936 for John Meredith Cape, d. 2005, m. firstly, 1936, Betty Ogilvie, d. 1972, daughter of Gavin L. Ogilvie, and secondly, ca. 1975, Nini MacDougall, d. 1996; listed here 1962 (Ray Nijen (sic) also listed, I think this is Raymond Nigen who later had a landscaping business on Bois-Franc), 1974-75; Russell Payson in 1976, 1980; not listed 1990-91, 1999-2000; presumably built on part of the "Maplebank" estate; 9045 built 2000, grounds 2458m2, owner Richard Papazian, cf. Role; approached by its own drive - is this the original house with additions?
SO (2009): SO knew the Cape's daughter, Mary; she lived in this house with her first and second husbands; the latter was Russell Payson; she married thirdly an Usher-Jones and lives in Toronto

	9055 Boulevard Gouin Ouest
	"Maplebank" Cartierville (cf. 1930 Blue Book); built ca. 1925?; Gavin Lang Ogilvie, b. 1881; d. 1975, son of William Watson Ogilvie and Helen Johnston, m. 1909, Mary Bell Gzowski, and had children: Hugh, of Vancouver, and Mary Elizabeth (Betty, Mrs. John M. Cape); Gavin L. Ogilvie listed here 1962 and 1976; not listed 1980; undergoing extensive remodelling 11/07; owner Vincent Cacciatore, grounds 14,258.30m2 cf. Role; in May 2009 old stone fence gone and new concrete fence being built, additions and renovations nearing completion

SO (May 2009): Ogilvie (this one or W. W.?) had a daughter (granddaughter?) called Willa and sons

	9060 Boulevard Gouin Ouest
	Frank Vincent in 1962; Phil Vincent 1964-65; not listed 1965-66; P. F. Vincent 1970-71, 1974-75; not listed 1976 onwards; presumably demolished

Is this a MacDougall  “tied cottage”?

	9062 Boulevard Gouin Ouest
	Arthur Binette in 1962, 1964-65; not listed 1965-66; 1970-71, 1974-75 onwards; presumably demolished

Is this a MacDougall  “tied cottage”?

	9064 Boulevard Gouin Ouest

6064 Boulevard Gouin Ouest in 1957
	Mr & Mrs J. W. Duncan Jr in 1957 (kin of Dr Duncan?); Mrs Dave Dawson in 1962; Marian Dawson (wid. David) 1964-65; not listed 1965-66; M. J. Dawson in 1967-68, 1970-71, 1974-75; Pine Hill Sand & Gravel 1976; not listed 1980 onwards

Is this a MacDougall  “tied cottage”?

	9075 Boulevard Gouin Ouest
	This is presumably the location of the frame house of the McDougall (sic) family depicted in Notman's 1894 photographs at the McCord; according to Analyse...Molson, the original house was built by George Campbell MacDougall ca. 1885 and called “Ashentee” (sic; Ashantee?); new house stone house built by Hartland Brydges MacDougall ante 1930; Mrs H. B. MacDougall (nee Edith Reford) in 1962; Edith MacDougall (wid. Hart) in 1964-65; 1965-66 (when also MacDougall servants quarters and Thos H. C. MacDougall); not listed 1967-68; Mrs H. B. MacDougall 1970-71; she died August 1970; main part of property sold by heirs to developer Kaufman & Broad (Quebec) Ltd in 1974; house not listed 1974-75, 1976 – presumably demolished; 9075 and 9095 listed together before 1970-71; existing stone gates are adjacent; site acquired by CUM in 1981 and renamed Parc Gouin-LeMesurier

SO (May 2009): this was Edith Reford MacDougall's property; SO was taken to play tennis with granddaughter Lorna MacDougall on court between house and stone wall by Elizabeth Chaddock, daughter of MacDougall farmer

	9080 Boulevard Gouin Ouest

6080 Boulevard Gouin (1957)
	R. R. MacDougall in 1957, 1962 (Robert Reford MacDougall and his first wife Margaret Cape; they divorced ca. 1965); Robt Woods in 1964-65; not listed 1965-66, 1967-68, 1970-71, 1974-75, 1976…; 9080 reappears as C. Lapierre* in 1999-2000 (obviously new house)

SO (May 2009): this is presumably the large blue and white house which SO remembers as belonging to Peter (?) MacDougall (she was friendly with his son Reford); the house was set in large grounds near the bend in Avenue Joseph-Saucier; large market gardens facing Gouin; house "disappeared" in 1960s; house was near private "Polo Road" leading to polo fields near Bois Franc Road; traces of road still evident in forest; the stables of the MacDougall family were hereabouts

	9090 Boulevard Gouin Ouest
	Not listed in 1962; George Giles in 1964-65, 1967-68, 1970-71; not listed 1965-66, 1974-75, 1976 onwards; presumably demolished

Is this a MacDougall  “tied cottage”?

	9095 Boulevard Gouin Ouest
	"Goodwood" Thomas H. C. MacDougall and Mary Dorothy Molson house designed by A. T. Galt Durnford built 1929-30, extended 1936; H. Thos MacDougall in 1962, 1964-65 (9095 listed as vacant in 1965-66; Thos MacDougall listed as 9075 in 1965-66); 1967-68, 1970-71, 1974-75; sold by family to developer Kaufman & Broad (Quebec) Ltd in 1974; P. F. Vincent in 1976, 1980; purchased by MUC 1981; vidi 11/07 in semi-abandoned state; being used for filming March 2008
SO (May 2009): according to 1946/51 map of Saraguay in possession of SO, the MacDougalls owned large swathes of property north and south of Gouin; their children did not associate with locals, though SO did once play tennis with Lorna MacDougall; nearby property to west on both sides (?) of Gouin appears to have belonged to the Gault family

	Île Paton (Bord-à-Plouffe)
	"The Island" Hugh Paton, b. Scotland, 1852; d. 1941, emigrated to Canada 1871; cartage company; of 1121 Sherbrooke and "The Island" in 1930, m. 1884, Isabella Robertson, b. 1861; d. ante 1930, owner of Paton Island from 1880 until his death; bridge leading to the island built 1886; 50 room house built 1890-92; extensive and unique gardens laid out; Paton left the house to George C. Paton and others (nephews?), who sold it to the Société l'île des Prairies Ltée; house demolished and island developed with high rise apartments

SO (2009): SO and other locals used to row/canoe to island and ramble about; she remembers house and gardens; Paton had private ferry “Lord of the Isles” which he used to cross from island to Saraguay; would hitch four horses to carriage and travel along his own private road leading to town; road had thirty gates and SO has 1922 Paton Xmas card/booklet addressed to Gavin L. Ogilvie, with depictions and histories of gates

	9100 Boulevard Gouin Ouest
	Empty 1962; empty 1964-65; not listed 1967-68; R. R. MacDougall in 1969-70, 1970-71, 1972-73, 1973-74; not listed 1974-75, 1976…; presumably Robert Reford MacDougall (d. 1980) and his second wife
See notes for 9080 Gouin; 9080 and 9100 presumably part of same property related to MacDougall stables and tied cottages; all properties west of Mathias house must have been MacDougall "tied cottages" like 9120

	9120 Boulevard Gouin Ouest
	Phil Chaddock in 1962, 1964-65; not listed 1965-66, 1967-68; P. A. Chaddock in 1970-71, 1974-75, 1976…

SO (May 2009): this was a MacDougall "tied cottage" occupied by a farming family; SO knew the daughter Elizabeth

	9127 Boulevard Gouin Ouest
	John Colin Gordon in 1957/58 and 1959/60; not listed 1962 or thereafter

What is this?  Is he kin of the Charles Howard Gordons?

	9150 Boulevard Gouin Ouest
	Herb Scrimshaw in 1962, 1964-65; not listed 1965-66; H. Scrimshaw 1967-68, 1970-71; not listed 1974-75; H. Scrimshaw in 1976; D. Scrimshaw in 1980; built 1960, owner Randy Naami, grounds 2186.80m2, cf. Role

SO (May 2009): the current owner of this house now embroiled in controversy prompted by attempted demolition

	9165 Boulevard Gouin Ouest


	Mr & Mrs James William Duncan (nee Elizabeth Fraser Gray; child James William) in 1957; Soeurs de Sainte-Marcelline residence in 1962, 1964-65 (not listed 1965-66), 1967-68, 1970-71; not listed 1974-75, 1976…

I think this is the Mathias-style house by Gouin

	9167 Boulevard Gouin Ouest
	Not listed 1970-71; listed 1974-75; Residence l'Amitié; 13 storey old people's home on grounds of Saint-Marcelline complex

SO (May 2009): SO was living in Toronto when this building was built; she says permission should not have been granted

	9175 Boulevard Gouin Ouest

6175 Boulevard Gouin Ouest
	Mrs. J. W. Duncan in 1957 (widow of Dr Duncan?); empty 1962; Soeurs de Sainte-Marcelline in 1964-65; not listed 1965-66, 1967-68; Laurent Gagnon Inc 1974-75; not listed 1976; no date, Soeurs de Saint-Marcelline, grounds 2949m2 cf. Role; this is the old fieldstone house by the river; in the 1930 Blue Book Dr & Mrs James W. Duncan (nee Bryson) of Westmount and summer residence Cartierville; Analyse...Molson implies this house belonged to R. C. L. Gault ante 1939 – presumably Reginald Clifford [Leslie?] Gault, b. ca. 1885

SO (May 2009): this house was lived in for many years by Dr Duncan

	9185/9815a Boulevard Gouin Ouest
	"Manoir Ogilvie" W. W. Ogilvie and Jean Bazinet in 1962; 9185 Wm Ogilvie and 9185a Jean Bazinet in 1964-65; not listed 1965-66; Jean Bazinet 1967-68; W. W. Ogilvie in 1970-71 (sic); not listed 1974-75, 1976…; William Watson Ogilvie, b. 1876; d. 1966, son of William Watson Ogilvie and Helen Johnston; according to the Ville de Montréal grand répertoire, the house and garage were designed by Findlay and built 1930-31; remained in family hands until 1973; house abandoned 1970s and damaged by fire; demolished in 1985 after second fire
SO (May 2009): the house was an impressive stone structure; still solid after being torched; 1985 demolition probably not necessary; SO and other local children used to ramble and toboggan on grounds with permission of owners; Did Willa Ogilvie and brothers known to SO belong to this family?  Lane leading from lodge crossed humpback bridge over stream; hill good for tobogganing

	Avenue Martin (south) in 1962 (6 numbers)
	According to SO in Green Space Story, during the 1940s "commoners" began building houses on a tract of land formerly farmed by Marcel Martin

	Pierrefonds begins here
	

	9200 (sic) Boulevard Gouin Ouest
	R. MacLeay in 1962; 
Is this a McDougall “tied cottage”?

	9376 Boulevard Gouin Ouest
	J. P. Comtois in 1962; 
Is this a McDougall “tied cottage”?

	9401 Boulevard Gouin Ouest (first number in Pierrefonds)
	"Invereck" C. McEachran in 1962; A. Dion in 1974-75; not listed thereafter; built in 1895 for Charles McEachran, d. ca. 1920, and his wife Margaret Allan, d. 1936; house designed by Edward Maxwell
SO (May 2009): Invereck belonged to Miss Sheila McEachran; owner of one of few cars on Gouin; used to drive very slowly down middle of road, gripping wheel and barely visible above dashboard; she was active in SPCA and locals used to bring sick and stray cats and dogs to her; the house burned down in the 1960s or 1970s, SO not sure exactly when; according to 1946/51 map land belonged to Sheila McEachran and her two brothers; SO thinks land sold to MUC by heirs ca1980

	9407 Boulevard Gouin Ouest
	Chas. McEachran and J. Osborne in 1962 and 1974-75; J. Osborne only in 1980 and 1982 (final listing); probably the gatehouse-type structure visible in the 1948 aerial photograph

SO (May 2009): SO said a Miss Mona Osborne lived in the gatehouse to the left of the drive leading to Invereck; house surrounded by trees

	Autoroute 13/Pitfield Road
	Pitfield Road was private roadway of Pitfield family leading to Bois Franc polo fields; on 1973 map Pitfield Road ends at Gouin; on the 1975 map Autoroute 13 is in place; construction of Autoroute 13 began July 1973 and ended October 1975

	9409 Boulevard Gouin Ouest
	"Saraguay" built ca. 1925 by Ward C. Pitfield family; sold to Fraternité Sacerdotale in 1953; Congrégation des Oblates de Bethanie and  Fraternité Sacerdotale in 1962, 1964; sold to Soeurs Grises in 1965 (listed there in 1974-75); sold to Congrégation de Notre-Dame in 1981 and renamed Villa Marguerite (ie Bourgeoys); according to internet the archives of the Grey Nuns are stored here; Role dates 9409 to 1960, which is probably when drastic remodelling took place; the original stone door surround and some stonework survives; grounds 41,336.60m2 cf. Role (complex now numbered 9409, 9425 and 9427 Gouin Boulevard)

SO (May 2009): SO actively trying to convince few remaining nuns to donate land to Park rather than sell to developers

	9425 Boulevard Gouin Ouest
	P. Raymond in 1974-75 and 1982; not listed 1984; small white clapboard house on Gouin; outbuilding of Villa Marguerite; Nuns asked for permission to demolish this building in 2007 - why on earth?

	9425A Boulevard Gouin Ouest
	Large red barn-like structure near Gouin; outbuilding of Villa Marguerite; or is it numbered 9427?  Possibly known as "The Stables"

	9426 Boulevard Gouin Ouest
	E. Andoney and B. Willman in 1962; not listed 1974-75 or thereafter; what is this? Presumably demolished to make way for Autoroute 13
SO (May 2009): SO said there were a few small "tied cottages" to east of Pitfield house on south side of Gouin; this is presumably one of them

	9427 Boulevard Gouin Ouest
	Compass Advertising and Display Corp in 1962; not listed 1974-75; what is this? 9427 is now part of Villa Marguerite cf. Role, so it could be the white clapboard building close to the Pitfield house

	9428 Boulevard Gouin Ouest
	T. M. Kirkwood in 1962; G. H. Lord in 1974-75; not listed 1980
SO (May 2009): SO said there were a few small "tied cottages" to east of Pitfield house on south side of Gouin; this is presumably one of them

	9430 Boulevard Gouin Ouest
	Mrs D. Strudwick in 1962; not listed 1974-75; what is this?  Possibly the "Maison Vinet" referred to on the Ville de Montréal grand repertoire, supposedly inhabited by Grace MacDougall Pitfield early 1950s and demolished along with its "dependances" in 1982, to make way for a parking lot for 9432 Gouin

SO (May 2009): SO said there were a few small "tied cottages" to east of Pitfield house on south side of Gouin; this is presumably one of them

	9432 Boulevard Gouin Ouest
	Mrs W. C. Pitfield up to 1980; not listed 1982 onwards; "Saraguay House" built 1954 by Grace MacDougall Pitfield, who d. 1983; sold to CUM in 1980 and incorporated into the Bois-de-Liesse park

SO (May 2009): Tex Pitfield, grandson of Grace Pitfield, has recently been in touch with SO; his father lived in this house as young man

	9434 Boulevard Gouin Ouest
	D. Scully in 1962; William Sylvester in 1974-75; Bernard Bonenfant in 1980, 1984; according to Ville de Montréal grand repertoire, this and 9436 and the garage between them were originally built ca. 1920 by the Ogilvie family (presumably as dependencies of Grey Gables) and sold 1951

	9436 Boulevard Gouin  Ouest
	Gabriel Legault in 1962, 1982 and 1984

	9445 Boulevard Gouin Ouest
	G. W. Long in 1980

What is this?

	9446 Boulevard Gouin Ouest
	Thomas Baxter in 1962 and 1974-75; not listed 1980 or thereafter

What is this?

	9448 Boulevard Gouin Ouest
	J. N. Lavoie in 1962 and 1974-75; J. W. Lavoie plomberie in 1980

What is this?

	9451-9451a Boulevard Gouin Ouest
	"Grey Gables" (cf. Avis of CRM re Villa Marguerite etc); lot sold by Damase Bertrand to Albert Edward Ogilvie in 1906; his address in 1930 Blue Book and later Who's Who entries address is simply Cartierville; two quite separate entrances from Gouin; ca. 1930s stone garage with copper roof (presumably 9451a); estate sold to Jesuits 1951; building extended 1950s and 1960s; known as Château Ogilvie and Villa Saint-Martin; grounds 63,239.10m2 cf. Role; Albert Edward Ogilvie, b. 1875; d. 1948, eldest son of William Watson Ogilvie and Helen Johnston, m. 1901, Caro(line) Brainerd, d. 1934, and had issue, three sons and one daughter

	Several structures
	

	9461/9465/9467 Boulevard Gouin Ouest
	"Résidence des religieuses Notre-Dame-de-Charité-du-Bon-Pasteur"; one of the buildings, presumably the large white house, possibly ca. 1930s, is described on the internet as "maison Mathers" extant in 1960; grounds of 9465 are 28,635.60m2 cf. Role;

Could this house have belonged to the prominent Mather family of Montreal?
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